Regular Article - Theoretical Physics



Echoes from asymmetric wormholes and black bounce

Min-Yan Ou, Meng-Yun Lai^a, Hyat Huang^b

College of Physics and Communication Electronics, Jiangxi Normal University, Nanchang 330022, China

Received: 26 March 2022 / Accepted: 9 May 2022 / Published online: 17 May 2022 © The Author(s) 2022

Abstract The time evolutions of the field perturbations in certain asymmetric wormhole and black bounce backgrounds are investigated. It is found that the echo signals arise only in some wormhole cases. We examine the influences of these wormhole echoes by their mass and charge, as well as the asymmetry of spacetime. The results show that a massive wormhole with smaller charge is easier to observe echo signals. Particularly, the asymmetry of wormhole spacetime causes lower frequency echoes. Besides, analytical results show that the negative regions of effective potentials are enclosed by the black hole horizons for a class of symmetric black bounce metrics. This suggests the stability of these symmetric metrics.

Contents

1	Introduction	1				
2	Review of black bounce solutions					
3	Perturbations and finite difference method 3					
4	Effective potential	4				
	4.1 Symmetric spacetimes	5				
	4.2 Asymmetric spacetimes	5				
5	Quasinormal modes and echoes	6				
6	Conclusion and discussion	9				
A	ppendix	9				
A Discussion on the stabilities of massless scalar per-						
	turbations in asymmetric wormholes	9				
B	Time-domain profiles of QNMs	10				
Re	eferences	12				

1 Introduction

Black holes and wormholes are two typical fascinating solutions of General Relativity. Recently, progress in astrophysical experiments has attracted a lot of interest in black hole physics. Two breakthroughs in this field are the first image of a black hole with the Event Horizon Telescope [1–3] and the observation of gravitational waves from a binary black hole merger [4]. Especially, there is a growing number of detected cases of GWs reported by LIGO Scientific Collaboration and Virgo Collaboration [5–7], which provides a lot of concrete examples to study the properties of black holes.

However, many studies pointed out that there is no sufficient evidence to claim that the GWs ringdown signals come from black holes [8,9]. In Ref. [9] and earlier research in Ref. [10], the authors suggested that the horizonless objects can mimic black holes in the sense of initial ringdown signals. The compact horizonless objects involve neutron stars [11], boson stars [12] and wormholes [9,13–17] and so on. The original concept of wormholes is proposed by Ludwig Flamm in 1916 [18]. Then Morris and Thorne systemically studied the properties of traversable wormholes [19]. They found that the existence of traversable wormhole needs exotic matters. Ellis [20] and Bronnikov [21] obtained the first eponymous wormhole solution respectively by introducing a free phantom scalar as the exotic matter. Due to the widespread interest in wormhole physics [22–27], it has a great motivation to distinguish black holes with wormholes. A useful way to achieve this goal is to perturb the objects and then observe the time evolution of the perturbation. When black holes or wormholes are perturbed, they radiate GWs based on the initial conditions of the perturbations. After that, they reduce to damped oscillations with complex frequencies. The modes of oscillations are the so-called quasinormal modes (QNMs), which encode information on the evolutions. Researches on the QNMs of various black hole and wormhole solutions are quite prominent [28–35]. There is an intriguing phenomenon called echoes in QNMs. The echoes are generated by the

^a e-mail: mengyunlai@jxnu.edu.cn (corresponding author)

^be-mail: hyat@mail.bnu.edu.cn

reflected waves of the system, in which a sudden increase of amplitudes in QNM spectrums appears. We should note, however, that not all black holes or wormholes can generate echoes after perturbations. An interesting direction is to use the features of echoes to examine the properties of black holes and wormholes. For example, Refs. [36,37] pointed out that echoes arise from black holes if there are local Lorentz symmetry violations or discontinuities in the effective potentials. Reference [14] studied the echoes of two wormhole models, they found that there are obvious echo signals in wormhole geometries. Also, echoes from wormhole/black hole transition were considered in the brane-world model [38]. In a recent paper [39], the authors presented an interesting discussion on the echoes from wormholes.

On the other hand, it is necessary to investigate the differences between black holes and wormholes in the same circumstance. To do this, we need to find the theories that admit both the black hole and wormhole solutions. A natural candidate is the regular black hole. A regular black hole means that there is no singularity inside the event horizons. Simpson and Visser proposed a new concept named black bounce recently [40]. This new concept was inspired by Bardeen's regular black hole and similar to Bronnikov's dark universe [41]. Simpson and Visser suggested a two parameters metric, which can describe traversable wormholes and black bounces regarding the values of the parameters. The black bounce mechanism and the Simpson-Visser (SV) metric have caused concern among physicists. Later, Huang and Yang (HY) obtained a charged wormhole/black bounce solution in the Einstein-Maxwell-scalar theory [42]. In their theory, the wormhole/black bounce is supported by the phantom fields. Although there are some disputes, the phantom fields play important role in many aspects of physics, such as string theory [43,44], dark energy models [45,46] and particle physics [47]. One may argue that the phantom fields will cause negative energies and hence become a sign of instabilities. However, Ref. [48] argued that such instabilities can be cured. Then Lobo et al. [49] constructed a novel black bounce spacetimes (LRSSV metric). The observable properties, such as the gravitational lensing [50–52] and perturbation echoes [53,54], of the SV metric and the LRSSV metric are studied. Especially in Ref. [53], they investigated the SV metric and suggested that the black hole/wormhole transition is characterized by the echoes. A similar conclusion is presented with respect to the LRSSV metric [54].

It should be mentioned that the SV metric and the LRSSV metric are both symmetric. Then the symmetry of the metrics leads to the symmetric effective potential in the perturbed equation. Being distinct from the above symmetric metrics, the HY metric involves asymmetric cases. It is worth examining how an asymmetric metric affects the time evolution of the perturbations.

In this paper, we would like to draw attention to the evolution of (a)symmetric black bounces when they are perturbed. We found that in symmetric black bounce metrics (SV metric and LRSSV metric and a special case in HY metric), the negative regions of effective potentials are enclosed by the black hole horizons. On the other hand, the asymmetry of metrics leads to the asymmetric effective potentials in the case of the HY metric, such that the negative regions could appear the outside the black hole horizons. In Refs. [53,54], they listed all the possible shapes of the effective potential in the SV metric and the LRSSV metric. Here we choose two common shapes of all the possible effective potentials, namely the single-peak and the two-peak forms, to compare the difference. Note that the single-peak potentials can not produce any echoes, we mainly care about the two-peak potentials in the present work. For the symmetric metrics, we can only adjust the depth of the well between the two peaks. On the other hand, in the asymmetric metrics the relative height of the two peaks can also be adjusted. These results lead us to a deeper understanding of the time evolution of the perturbations.

The paper is organized as follows. In Sect. 2, we make a brief review of the symmetric and the asymmetric wormhole/black bounce metrics. In Sect. 3, we derive the perturbation equations for general spherically symmetric metrics, and then introduce the finite difference method to solve those perturbation equations. The effective potentials in different metrics are analyzed in Sect. 4. The time-domain profiles of the perturbations evolved in the asymmetric spacetime are presented in Sect. 5. Finally, the conclusion and discussion are given in Sect. 6.

2 Review of black bounce solutions

A spherically symmetric ansatz with wormhole throat-like geometry takes the form

$$ds^{2} = -h(x)dt^{2} + h^{-1}(x)dx^{2} + (x^{2} + q^{2})d\Omega_{2}^{2},$$
 (1)

where

$$d\Omega_2^2 = d\theta^2 + \sin^2\theta d\phi^2.$$
 (2)

For the Simpson–Visser (SV) metric, we have [40]

$$h(x) = h_{sv} = 1 - \frac{2m}{\sqrt{x^2 + q^2}}.$$
(3)

This metric describes a traversable wormhole or a black bounce up to the value of parameter q. Specifically, it can be used to describe a traversable wormhole for q > 2m or a regular black hole for 0 < q < 2m. It is obvious that the metric has x to -x symmetry, such that it depicts a symmetric wormhole or regular black hole. In the regular black hole case, there is a wormhole throat-like geometry in x = 0. This geometry is a spacelike hypersurface, while the wormhole throat usually is timelike. Simpson and Visser treat this geometry as a bounce into a future incarnation of the Universe [40].

There is another symmetric metric proposed by Lobo et al. [49]. They consider a charged solution from the Einstein gravity with the matter sector as an anisotropic fluid. The LRSSV metric is given by the same form as (1) and

$$h(x) = h_l = 1 - \frac{2m}{(x^4 + q^4)^{1/4}}.$$
(4)

The properties of this metric are very similar to the SV metric. It also has the *x* to -x symmetry and describes symmetric spacetimes. When q > 2m, it depicts a charged traversable wormhole; When 0 < q < 2m, it depicts a black bounce.

Huang and Yang (HY) introduced a phantom scalar as the matter sector in the Einstein-Maxwell-phantom scalar theory [42], then obtained an asymmetric black bounce solution. The Lagrangian for this theory is given by

$$\mathcal{L} = \sqrt{-g} (R + \frac{1}{2} (\partial \phi)^2 - \frac{1}{4} Z^{-1} F^2),$$

$$Z = \gamma_1 \cos \phi + \gamma_2 \sin \phi.$$
(5)

The phantom field is defined by flapping the sign of kinetic term in Lagrangian, then it is easy to see the scalar field is phantom-like everywhere. When the coupling function Z becomes negative somewhere, the Maxwell field is also phantom-like. The phantom fields as exotic matters support wormhole throats. Recently, an asymmetric wormhole solution without exotic matters is found in Ref. [55] and its QNMs and echoes have been studied in Ref. [56].

Within the ansatz (1), the HY solution is given by

$$h(x) = 1 - \frac{\gamma_2 Q^2 x}{4q(x^2 + q^2)} + \frac{\gamma_1 Q^2}{4(x^2 + q^2)},$$

$$\phi = \phi(x, q), \quad A = \xi(x, q, Q)dt,$$

$$\phi = 2\arccos(\frac{x}{\sqrt{x^2 + q^2}}), \quad \xi' = \frac{QZ}{x^2 + q^2},$$
(6)

where $x \in (-\infty, +\infty)$. It follows that the solution (6) is asymptotic to flat in $x \to \pm \infty$. It is easy to reduce the solution to the Ellis wormhole solution in the limit $Q \to 0$. We need to emphasize that we won't take the parameter q to be zero in this paper. The mass M and the electric charge Q_e of the solution [42]

$$M = \frac{\gamma_2 Q^2}{8q}, \qquad Q_e = \gamma_1 Q. \tag{7}$$

The HY metric characterizes traversable wormholes, if and only if

$$Q^{2} < \frac{8q^{2}(\gamma_{1} + \sqrt{\gamma_{1}^{2} + \gamma_{2}^{2}})}{\gamma_{2}^{2}}.$$
(8)

Although the two asymptotic regions at $x \to \pm \infty$ are both flat, the spacetime curvatures are different in the vicinity of the wormhole throat. *It means that the HY metric is an asymmetric solution.* When the charge decreases or mass increases, the spacetime geometry in the vicinity of x = 0 becomes more and more asymmetric.

When

$$Q^{2} \ge \frac{8q^{2}(\gamma_{1} + \sqrt{\gamma_{1}^{2} + \gamma_{2}^{2}})}{\gamma_{2}^{2}},$$
(9)

the HY metric characterizes regular black holes. It can depict two types of regular black holes in this situation. Type I regular black hole looks like an RN black hole, which has outer and inner horizon but the curvature singularity at x = 0 is replaced by a wormhole throat. Type II regular black hole is a black bounce where the bounce occurs at x = 0 and the two horizons are located on both sides of the bounce.

Specially, if $\gamma_2 = 0$, the function *h* in metric (6) reduces to

$$h(x) = 1 - \frac{Q^2}{4(x^2 + q^2)},$$
(10)

where we set $\gamma_1 = -1$ without loss of generality. This is an analogy with the SV metric (3) and the LRSSV metric (4). When 2q < Q, it depicts a black bounce; when 2q = Q, it depicts a one-way wormhole; when 2q > Q, it depicts a traversable wormhole.

3 Perturbations and finite difference method

In general, there are usually three types of perturbations, namely scalar, electromagnetic and gravitational field perturbations. One of the goals of this work is to discuss how the asymmetry of spacetimes affects the results of the perturbations. Note that the gravitational fields and the scalar fields behave similarly. And hence we study the scalar field perturbations as a proxy for the gravitational perturbations [14].

The equation of motion (E.O.M) of a massless scalar field ϕ is given by

$$\frac{1}{\sqrt{-g}}\partial_{\mu}(\sqrt{-g}g^{\mu\nu}\partial_{\nu}\phi) = 0.$$
(11)

We could separate the scalar field ϕ into two parts, which are the spherical harmonics $Y_{l,m}$ and the radial part $\psi(t, x)$,

$$\phi = \sum_{l,m} \frac{\psi(l,x)}{\sqrt{x^2 + q^2}} Y_{l,m},$$
(12)

where l denotes the angular number and m denotes the azimuthal number. Then the E.O.M of the scalar field (11) reduces to

$$-\frac{\partial^{2}\psi(t,x)}{\partial t^{2}} + \frac{1}{h(x)^{2}}\frac{\partial^{2}\psi(t,x)}{\partial x^{2}} + h(x)h'(x)\frac{\partial\psi(t,x)}{\partial x}$$
$$-\frac{h(x)\left(q^{2}h(x) + (q^{2} + x^{2})(l(l+1) + xh'(x))\right)}{(q^{2} + x^{2})^{2}}\psi(t,x) = 0.$$
(13)

Here we introduce the tortoise coordinate x_* . The tortoise coordinate x_* is defined by

$$dx_* = \frac{1}{h(x)}dx.\tag{14}$$

It is also worth mentioning that the tortoise coordinate x_* is monotonically increasing with x but avoids the horizon. And hence (11) becomes the wave function in the time domain, namely

$$-\frac{\partial^2 \psi(t,x)}{\partial t^2} + \frac{\partial^2 \psi(t,x)}{\partial x_*^2} - V(x)\psi(t,x) = 0,$$
(15)

where

$$V(x) = \frac{h(x)\left(q^2h(x) + (q^2 + x^2)(l(l+1) + xh'(x))\right)}{(q^2 + x^2)^2}.$$
(16)

Furthermore, we could rewrite $\psi(t, x)$ as $\Psi(x) \exp(-i\omega_{l,n}t)$, where $e^{-i\omega t}$ is the time evolution of the scalar field. Then we obtain the wave function in the frequency domain, namely

$$\frac{d^2\Psi(x)}{dx_*^2} + (\omega_{l,n}^2 - V(x))\Psi(x) = 0.$$
(17)

where *n* denotes the overtone number. The $\omega_{l,n}$ is a complex number that characterizes the frequency of QNMs.

The effective potential, as known as the Regge–Wheeler potential, can be rewritten as the following form

$$V(x) = h(x)F(x),$$
(18)

with

$$F(x) = \frac{1}{(q^2 + x^2)^2} \left(q^2 h(x) + (q^2 + x^2)(l + l^2 + xh'(x)) \right).$$
(19)

As we will see as follows, the time evolution of the perturbed fields is strongly related to the effective potential V.

In order to solve the perturbation equation (15) numerically, we use the finite difference method. The details of the method could be found in Ref. [14].

We discretize the coordinates $t = i\Delta t$ and $x_* = j\Delta x_*$, where the *i* and *j* are integers. As the result, $\psi(t, x_*)$ becomes $\psi(i\Delta t, j\Delta x_*)$. After making Δt and Δx_* to be constant, we can replace $\psi(i\Delta t, j\Delta x_*)$ with $\psi(i, j)$. In a similar way, $V(x_*) = V(j\Delta x_*) = V(j)$. Then the discretized form of equation (15) becomes

$$-\frac{\psi(i+1, j) - 2\psi(i, j) + \psi(i-1, j)}{\Delta t^{2}} + \frac{\psi(i, j+1) - 2\psi(i, j) + \psi(i, j-1)}{\Delta x_{*}^{2}} - V(j)\psi(i, j) = 0.$$
(20)

According to Ref. [57], we consider the initial Gaussian distribution $\psi(t = 0, x_*) = e^{-\frac{(x_* - \bar{a})^2}{2b^2}}$ and $\psi(t < 0, x_*) = 0$. In the present work, we take b = 1 and the value of \bar{a} will be chosen accordingly. Then we can derive the evolution of ψ by

$$\psi(i+1, j) = -\psi(i-1, j) + \left(2 - 2\frac{\Delta t^2}{\Delta x_*^2} - \Delta t^2 V(j)\right)\psi(i, j) + \frac{\Delta t^2}{\Delta x_*^2}\left(\psi(i, j+1) + \psi(i, j-1)\right). \quad (21)$$

The von Neumann stability conditions require that [57]

$$\Delta t / \Delta x_* < 1. \tag{22}$$

In the present paper, we set $\Delta t / \Delta x_* = 0.5$. The setting is the same with Refs. [57] and [14]. We use the usual boundary conditions here:

$$\psi(t, x_*)|_{x_* \to -\infty} = e^{-i\omega x_*}, \qquad \psi(t, x_*)|_{x_* \to +\infty} = e^{i\omega x_*}.$$
(23)

The physical interpretation of this boundary condition is that there are only ingoing waves in $x \to -\infty$ and outgoing waves in $x \to \infty$.

4 Effective potential

Before we solve the discretized equation (21) with the numerical method and show the main results in the next section, it is necessary to discuss the effective potentials V with different metrics.

Based on (18), the behavior of the effective potential V(x) is determined by the roots of the following three equations:

$$h(x) = 0, (24)$$

$$F(x) = 0, (25)$$

$$\frac{dV(x)}{dx} = 0, (26)$$

where the roots of Eq. (24) determine the existence and the positions of the horizons, the roots of Eqs. (24) and (25) describe the transformations of the sign of V(x), and the roots of Eq. (26) represent the extreme points of V(x).

As a studied in Ref. [58], the exponentially growing QNMs could appear when the effective potential V satisfies a sufficient condition (33). This is a signal of the instability of the systems. In what follows, we will point out that there are no negative regions outside the black hole horizons in the cases of symmetric black bounce, which suggests the stability of these symmetric metrics. But this argument could be broken in the asymmetric black bounce cases (see Appendix A for details).

4.1 Symmetric spacetimes

As we mentioned above, the SV metric, the LRSSV metric and the HY metric with $\gamma_2 = 0$ are both symmetric solutions. It is worth noting that $\gamma_2 = 0$ corresponds to the solution with zero mass. A symmetric wormhole with zero mass is acceptable, such as the famous Ellis wormhole [20].

As the conclusions of Ref. [53], there are two shapes of effective potentials in the SV metric. The two-peaks shapes happen only in certain traversable wormhole cases, namely q > 2m. It follows that the black bounce cases have only single-peak shapes of the effective potential and hence there are no echoes. The LRSSV metric holds a similar conclusion, besides a new three-peaks shape arises in the traversable wormhole cases. Let's expand the effective potential V at the two asymptotic regions, namely $x \to \pm \infty$, we found that the above two symmetric metrics have the same form. For any $l \neq 0$ perturbation, it leads to the same leading term of the effective potential V, namely

$$V(\pm\infty) = \frac{l(l+1)}{x^2} + \cdots$$
(27)

When l = 0, the leading term changes to

$$V(\pm\infty) = 2m(\frac{1}{x^2})^{3/2} + \cdots$$
 (28)

Keeping this in mind, it is clear that the effective potentials tend to 0⁺ no matter $x \to +\infty$ or $x \to -\infty$. We would use this conclusion to prove that there are no negative regions of the effective potentials outside of the horizons in the cases of the SV metric, the LRSSV metric and the HY metric of $\gamma_2 = 0, \gamma_1 < 0.$

The SV metric, the LRSSV metric and the HY metric of $\gamma_2 = 0$, $\gamma_1 < 0$ share the following form of h(x):

$$h(x) = 1 - \frac{A}{(x^{2N} + q^{2N})^B}$$
(29)

where A > 0, B > 0 and N is a positive integer. Let us assume that the roots of h(x) locate at $x = \pm x_0$. Then we have h(x) > 0 for $x > |x_0|$ and h(x) < 0 for $x < |x_0|$, since h(x) > 0 for $x \to \pm \infty$. On the other hand, it can be easily verified that $xh'(x) \ge 0$. Therefore the roots of F(x) = 0can only appear in the region $x \le |x_0|$, and $F(x_0) = 0$ only happens for $x_0 = 0$ and l = 0.

From the above arguments, we arrive at the conclusion that the transformation of the sign of V(x) only happens between the two horizons. Combining with the asymptotic behavior of V(x), it is positive when $x \to \pm \infty$. Because for $l \neq 0$ the leading term of V at the boundaries are the same with (27). For l = 0, the leading term becomes

$$V(\pm \infty) = \frac{q^2 - Q^2 \gamma_1 / 2}{x^4} + \cdots .$$
 (30)

Thus the negative region of the effective potential only appears between the two horizons. This suggests the stability of these symmetric metrics. To sum up, we show that there are no negative regions of the effective potentials outside the horizons in all the three symmetric metrics. We use the illustrations, varying with q, to exhibit our conclusion more intuitively in Fig. 1. For a certain value of q, the red dashed line denotes how many peaks and wells of the effective potential V(x) while the blue solid line denotes how many horizons. Based on such profiles, we found that for a large q the three metrics give rise to traversable wormholes that possess a single peak of effective potential at the wormhole throat. When q decreases, more peaks emerged. To be specific, there are two peaks in the SV metric and the HY metric with $\gamma_2 = 0$ and three peaks in the LRSSV metric. For a small q, there are two symmetric black hole horizons emerge and each side of the horizon has only one peak.

4.2 Asymmetric spacetimes

When $\gamma_2 \neq 0$, the HY metric describes an asymmetric spacetime. It should be noted that the asymptotic behavior of V(x) becomes

$$V(\pm\infty) = \frac{l(l+1)}{x^2} - \frac{(-1+l+l^2)Q^2\gamma_2}{4qx^3} + \cdots$$
(31)

If $l \neq 0$, the leading term is the same with the above symmetric cases and the effective potential V(x) in two asymptotic regions both tend to 0^+ . But in the cases of l = 0, we find that

$$V(\pm\infty) = \frac{Q^2 \gamma_2}{4qx^3} + \cdots$$
(32)

It follows that $V(+\infty)$ and $V(-\infty)$ have always different signs. In fact, $V(+\infty)$ tends to 0^+ and $V(-\infty)$ tends to 0^- . Comparing with the symmetric cases in the above section, we may conclude that, for the s-wave (l = 0) perturbations, the asymmetry of spacetime causes negative regions of the effective potentials outside the horizons. The negative region perhaps relates to unstable or stable situation. The existence of the unstable modes dependents on whether the depth of the gap is sufficient to form a bound state with negative energy. We discuss the details of the stability in Appendix A.

In this work, we concentrate on the black bounce and wormhole cases and hence ignore the RN-like black hole cases. Moreover, we do not interest in the structures inside black hole horizons. Within these assumptions, there are only single-peak shapes and two-peaks shapes. These two shapes are good examples to illustrate how the asymmetry affects the time evolution of the perturbations. The single-peak cases involve all the black bounce cases and some wormhole cases.

The two-peaks cases arise in certain traversable wormhole geometries. The left column of Figs. 2, 3, 4 and 5 show the shapes of these two-peaks cases with different parameters. We should emphasize that the implications of each parameter are different. γ_2 arises in the coupling function $Z(\phi)$ of the





Fig. 1 Roots of (24) (blue solid line), (25) (green dotted line) and (26)(red dashed line) of the three symmetric metrics. From top to bottom, they correspond to the SV metric, the LRSSV metric and the HY

metric with $\gamma_2 = 0$ respectively. The left column shows the case of l = 0 while the right column shows the case of l = 1

Lagrangian. l is the eigenvalue of the spherical harmonics $Y_{l,m}$, which corresponds to the angular momentum of the perturbation fields. The scalar parameter q relates to the mass M of the wormhole when we fix Q. The parameter Q is proportional to the electrical charge Q_e of the wormhole.

5 Quasinormal modes and echoes

The frequencies of QNMs are complex numbers that depict the properties of compact objects when spacetimes against perturbations. The real and imaginary parts of QNMs frequencies (QNFs) describe oscillation frequency and damping rate in the time-domain profiles of ψ respectively. Here we use the Prony method to calculate the QNFs.

The QNFs for different angular numbers l, wormhole mass M and charge Q_e are shown in Tables 1 and 2. As we will see in what follows, echoes appear in double-peaks potentials. Hence the QNFs have different values for each echo and we don't show them in the tables. We can see that in Table 1 the



(a) Effective potentials



Fig. 2 The effective potentials and the corresponding time evolution profiles with different γ_2 . We set q = 1.65, $\gamma_1 = -10$, l = 2, Q = 1



(a) Effective potentials



Fig. 3 The effective potentials and the corresponding time evolution profiles with different *l*. We set q = 1.6, $\gamma_1 = -10$, $\gamma_2 = 2$, Q = 1



Fig. 4 The effective potentials and the corresponding time evolution profiles with different M. We set $\gamma_1 = -10$, $\gamma_2 = 2$, l = 2, Q = 1

imaginary parts of QNFs have maximum values for different l, while in Table 2 the real and imaginary parts of QNFs both have maximum values. As examples, some time-profiles of QNMs in Tables 1 and 2 are presented in Appendix B. One can see that the tendency of our data matches the behavior of time-domain profiles in Figs. 8 and 9.

We would like to show the important results of the timeevolution profiles that contain echo signals now. For the twopeak profiles, as we present in Fig. 2, 3, 4 and 5, we classify the situations with different γ_2 , l, M, Q_e . The two-peak cases can produce echoes. The left columns of these figures show the effective potential $V(x_*)$ while the right columns show



(a) Effective potentials

(b) Time evolution of perturbations

Fig. 5 The effective potentials and the corresponding time evolution profiles with different Q_e . We set M = 0.147059, $\gamma_1 = -10$, $\gamma_2 = 2$, l = 2

Table 1	The QNM	frequencies	with different	Q_e .	We set M	= 0.147059	$\gamma_1 =$	$-10, \gamma_2 =$	= 2
---------	---------	-------------	----------------	---------	------------	------------	--------------	-------------------	-----

Qe	l = 2	l = 4	l = 6
- 10	Echoes	Echoes	Echoes
- 11	Echoes	Echoes	Echoes
- 12	Echoes	1.19266 - 0.0364921i	1.69622 - 0.0381044i
- 13	0.640863 - 0.0525415i	1.12010 - 0.0496164i	1.60403 - 0.0544553i
- 14	0.586778 - 0.0587905i	1.02922 - 0.0552181i	1.47679 - 0.0554772i
- 15	0.533745 - 0.0611461i	0.938147 - 0.0578268i	1.34675 - 0.0570986i
- 16	0.484689 - 0.0611087i	0.853258 - 0.0582675i	1.22537 - 0.0574519i
- 17	0.440437 - 0.0596644i	0.776279 - 0.0572291i	1.11519 - 0.0564954i
- 18	0.400901 - 0.0573685i	0.707389 - 0.0553362i	1.01653 - 0.0547212i

Table 2 The QNM frequencies with different *M*. We set $Q_e = -10$, $\gamma_1 = -10$, $\gamma_2 = 2$

М	l = 2	l = 4	l = 6
0.06	0.568957 - 0.0972813i	1.00753 - 0.0951763i	1.44955 — 0.0945854 <i>i</i>
0.07	0.644494 - 0.103215i	1.14051 - 0.100152i	1.64020 - 0.0993764i
0.08	0.711233 - 0.103597i	1.25595 - 0.100205i	1.80528 - 0.0991781i
0.09	0.766541 - 0.0992767i	1.35004 - 0.0948321i	1.93922 - 0.0935736i
0.10	0.807406 - 0.0892818i	1.41847 - 0.0843187i	2.03626 - 0.0834710i
0.11	0.830400 - 0.0740977i	1.45387 - 0.0696909i	2.08485 - 0.0730659i
0.12	0.830063 - 0.0539434i	1.44300 - 0.0505802i	2.05484 - 0.0559045i
0.13	Echoes	Echoes	Echoes
0.14	Echoes	Echoes	Echoes

the corresponding time evolution profiles. Based on those profiles, we sum up our results as follows:

Theoretical parameter γ₂ relates to the coupling strength between the scalar field and the electromagnetic field. When γ₂ = 0, there are two symmetric peaks in V(x_{*}). With the increase of γ₂, these two peaks become further and further, and thus lead to a broad well. We should note that one of the peaks becomes higher while another peak becomes lower. The corresponding QNMs profile

suggests that larger γ_2 leads to lower frequency but larger amplitude echoes. The first echo signal after the initial ringdown arises earlier for smaller γ_2 . One may expect to observe large amplitudes when γ_2 becomes large.

• When we use the scalar waves with different angular momentum *l* to perturb the same wormholes, the height of the effective potential changes. Larger *l* gives rise to higher peaks. Interestingly, changing *l* does not significantly affect the width between the two peaks. According to the QNMs profiles, we can see that smaller *l* leads to

higher frequencies of the echoes. The amplitudes of the echoes become smaller with larger l. With smaller l, we can detect the first echo signal earlier.

- The wormhole mass M strongly affects the width of the two peaks. An intriguing feature is that changing the mass of the wormholes does not significantly alter the height of the two peaks. A larger mass leads to a broader width and a deeper well in the two-peak effective potential. The corresponding QNMs profiles suggest that larger mass wormholes have larger amplitude and lower frequency echoes. The wormhole mass relates to the parameters Q and q. Here we fix Q and vary q to change wormhole mass.
- As a charged solution, we would like to discuss how the electric charge of the wormhole affects the time evolution after a scalar field perturbation. As we can see in Fig. 5, with the increase of the electric charge, the peaks of the effective potential become lower. A wormhole with a smaller electric charge could create more obvious signals of echoes.

6 Conclusion and discussion

In this paper, we investigated the time evolution of the symmetric and asymmetric regular black holes after a scalar field perturbation, based on three black bounce solutions. The SV metric and the LRSSV metric and the $\gamma_2 = 0$ case of HY metric both describe symmetric traversable wormholes or black bounces. But if $\gamma_2 \neq 0$, the HY metric becomes an asymmetric solution, which leads to the different sides of the wormhole throat or black bounce.

We considered the scalar field perturbations as a proxy for the GWs in the present work. We derived a general form of the effective potential for the spherically symmetric metric with throat-like geometry. We analyzed the effective potentials in both symmetric and asymmetric metrics. In conclusion, we found that the negative regions of the effective potentials only arise inside the black hole horizons in symmetric black bounce cases. This situation is changed in asymmetric black bounce cases, namely, they admit a negative region outside the black hole horizons.

We used the finite difference method to solve the time evolution equation of the perturbations. We showed our numerical results of QNFs in Tables 1 and 2. The time-domain profiles are shown in Figs. 2, 3, 4 and 5. As some references have pointed out, the symmetric black bounce cases do not produce echo signals. Our results support this argument and show that it is also valid even in the asymmetric black bounce cases. All these features characterize the properties of the (a)symmetric wormholes with two-peak effective potentials.

When the effective potential has two peaks, it form a well. These situations can happen in some wormhole cases. Such shapes of the effective potentials admit echoes after the perturbations. We studied the relationship of the theoretical parameter, the angular momentum of the perturbed waves, the mass and the electric charge of the wormholes with the properties of the echoes respectively. According to the numerical results, we may therefore conclude that massive wormholes with smaller charges are easier to observe echo signals after the scalar perturbations. Increase with γ_2 aggravates the asymmetry of the effective potentials, which leads to lower frequency but larger amplitude echoes. The angular momentum l of the perturbed waves changes the height of the peaks, while it has no significant influence on the widths of effective potentials. We found that larger l leads to lower frequency echoes.

As we mentioned above, the HY metric can describe RNlike black holes. We didn't touch on this situation in the present paper. For future work, one can go further to investigate the time evolution after the scalar field, electromagnetic field, and gravitational field perturbations of the HY metric or other asymmetric spacetime geometries.

Acknowledgements We are grateful to H.Lü, Peng Liu, Yuxuan Peng, Jingbo Yang and De-Cheng Zou for useful discussions. We truly thank the referee for reminding us to study the stability of the systems. This work is supported by the Initial Research Foundation of Jiangxi Normal University.

Data Availability Statement This manuscript has no associated data or the data will not be deposited. [Authors' comment: All the numerical results in the present paper can be easily reproduced by using the finite difference method and the Prony method provided in the text or the other numerical methods from the references.]

Open Access This article is licensed under a Creative Commons Attribution 4.0 International License, which permits use, sharing, adaptation, distribution and reproduction in any medium or format, as long as you give appropriate credit to the original author(s) and the source, provide a link to the Creative Commons licence, and indicate if changes were made. The images or other third party material in this article are included in the article's Creative Commons licence, unless indicated otherwise in a credit line to the material. If material is not included in the article's Creative Commons licence and your intended use is not permitted by statutory regulation or exceeds the permitted use, you will need to obtain permission directly from the copyright holder. To view a copy of this licence, visit http://creativecommons.org/licenses/by/4.0/.

Funded by SCOAP³.

Appendix

A Discussion on the stabilities of massless scalar perturbations in asymmetric wormholes

In Sect. 4, we pointed out that the asymmetric wormholes allow negative regions in effective potentials. For example,

q=0.70

200

150



(a) Roots



(b) Effective potentials

potentials

₩ 0.001

10⁻⁶

metric.

0

and the effective potentials are asymptotic to 0^- in $x \to \infty$. The right

column presents two examples with negative regions of the effective

Fig. 6 In the left column, roots of (24) (blue solid line), (25) (green dotted line) and (26) (red dashed line) of the asymmetric wormhole case in the HY metric. We set $\gamma_1 = 1$, $\gamma_2 = 1$, Q = 1, l = 0. Under these parameters, it represents the asymmetric wormholes for q > 0.2275



Fig. 7 Time-domain profiles with the same parameters with Fig. 6

we show a plot of roots and the corresponding effective potentials of the asymmetric metric case in Fig. 6. In this appendix, we would like to discuss the influence of the negative regions on the stabilities of the asymmetric wormholes.

According to Ref. [59], the unstable modes arise if

$$\int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} \frac{V}{h} dx < 0 \to I \equiv \int_{-\infty}^{+\infty} F(x) dx < 0.$$
(33)

For simplicity, we consider the s-wave(l = 0) perturbation. Now F(x) reduce to

$$F = \frac{1}{4q(q^2 + x^2)^3} \left(4q^5 - 2q Q^2 x^2 \gamma_1 + q^3 (4x^2 + 1 Q^2) - 2\gamma_2 q^2 Q^2 x + \gamma_2 Q^2 x^3 \right).$$
(34)

Integrating this function, we have

$$I = \frac{(16q^2 + \gamma_1 Q^2)\pi}{32q^3}.$$
 (35)

The wormhole cases in the HY metric must satisfy an inequality in (8). Under the assumption $q \ge 0$, it is easy to see that these two inequalities (8) and (33) are incompatible. In fact this argument is also valid for $l \neq 0$ because the *l* term in (19) is always positive. Therefore, we can conclude that the integration *I* is always positive for wormholes in the HY

100

(b) q = 0.70

Thus we can see that it is hard to determine whether the asymmetric wormholes are stable under the perturbations. Nevertheless, our numerical results show that at least in a large parameter region the wormholes are stable. As examples, two time-domain profiles are shown in Fig. 7.

B Time-domain profiles of QNMs

50

In Figs. 8 and 9, we show the time-domain profiles of wormhole geometry with the parameter values in Tables 1 and 2 respectively. It is obvious that the data of those tables are consistent with the time-domain profiles.



Fig. 8 The time evolution profiles with different Q_e . We set l = 2, M = 0.147059, $\gamma_1 = -10$, $\gamma_2 = 2$



Fig. 9 The time evolution profiles with different *M*. We set l = 2, $Q_e = -10$, $\gamma_1 = -10$, $\gamma_2 = 2$

References

- K. Akiyama et al. [Event Horizon Telescope], First M87 event horizon telescope results. I. The shadow of the supermassive black hole. Astrophys. J. Lett. 875, L1 (2019). https://doi.org/10.3847/ 2041-8213/ab0ec7. arXiv:1906.11238 [astro-ph.GA]
- K. Akiyama et al. [Event Horizon Telescope], First M87 event horizon telescope results. II. Array and instrumentation. Astrophys. J. Lett. 875(1), L2 (2019). https://doi.org/10.3847/2041-8213/ab0c96. arXiv:1906.11239 [astro-ph.IM]
- K. Akiyama et al. [Event Horizon Telescope], First M87 event horizon telescope results. III. Data processing and calibration. Astrophys. J. Lett. 875(1), L3 (2019). https://doi.org/10.3847/ 2041-8213/ab0c57. arXiv:1906.11240 [astro-ph.GA]
- B.P. Abbott et al. [LIGO Scientific and Virgo], Observation of gravitational waves from a binary black hole merger. Phys. Rev. Lett. 116(6), 061102 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.116. 061102. arXiv:1602.03837 [gr-qc]
- R. Abbott et al. [LIGO Scientific and Virgo], GW190521: a binary black hole merger with a total mass of 150M_☉. Phys. Rev. Lett. 125(10), 101102 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett. 125.101102. arXiv:2009.01075 [gr-qc]
- R. Abbott et al. [LIGO Scientific and Virgo], GW190814: gravitational waves from the coalescence of a 23 solar mass black hole with a 2.6 solar mass compact object. Astrophys. J. Lett. 896(2), L44 (2020). https://doi.org/10.3847/2041-8213/ab960f. arXiv:2006.12611 [astro-ph.HE]
- R. Abbott et al. [LIGO Scientific and Virgo], GW190412: observation of a binary-black-hole coalescence with asymmetric masses. Phys. Rev. D 102(4), 043015 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRevD.102.043015. arXiv:2004.08342 [astro-ph.HE]
- M.A. Abramowicz, W. Kluzniak, J.P. Lasota, No observational proof of the black hole event-horizon. Astron. Astrophys. **396**, L31–L34. https://doi.org/10.1051/0004-6361: 20021645. arXiv:astro-ph/0207270
- V. Cardoso, E. Franzin, P. Pani, Is the gravitational-wave ringdown a probe of the event horizon? Phys. Rev. Lett. **116**(17), 171101 (2016) [Erratum: Phys. Rev. Lett. **117**(8), 089902 (2016)]. https:// doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.116.171101. arXiv:1602.07309 [grqc]
- T. Damour, S.N. Solodukhin, Wormholes as black hole foils. Phys. Rev. D 76, 024016 (2007). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.76. 024016 arXiv:0704.2667 [gr-qc]
- V. Cardoso, P. Pani, Testing the nature of dark compact objects: a status report. Living Rev. Relativ. 22(1), 4 (2019). https://doi.org/ 10.1007/s41114-019-0020-4 arXiv:1904.05363 [gr-qc]
- F.E. Schunck, E.W. Mielke, General relativistic boson stars. Class. Quantum Gravity 20, R301–R356 (2003). https://doi.org/10.1088/ 0264-9381/20/20/201 arXiv:0801.0307 [astro-ph]
- P. Bueno, P.A. Cano, F. Goelen, T. Hertog, B. Vercnocke, Echoes of Kerr-like wormholes. Phys. Rev. D 97(2), 024040 (2018). https:// doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.97.024040 arXiv:1711.00391 [gr-qc]
- H. Liu, P. Liu, Y. Liu, B. Wang, J.P. Wu, Echoes from phantom wormholes. Phys. Rev. D 103(2), 024006 (2021). https://doi.org/ 10.1103/PhysRevD.103.024006 arXiv:2007.09078 [gr-qc]
- G. Miranda, J.C. Del Águila, T. Matos, Exact rotating magnetic traversable wormholes satisfying the energy conditions. Phys. Rev. D 99(12), 124045 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.99. 124045 arXiv:1507.02348 [gr-qc]
- G. Miranda, T. Matos, N.M. Garcia, Kerr-like phantom wormhole. Gen. Relativ. Gravit. 46, 1613 (2014). https://doi.org/10. 1007/s10714-013-1613-y. arXiv:1303.2410 [gr-qc]
- H. Huang, H. Lü, J. Yang, Bronnikov-like wormholes in Einsteinscalar gravity. arXiv:2010.00197 [gr-qc]

- L. Flamm, Comments on Einstein's theory of gravity. Phys. Z. 17, 448 (1916)
- M.S. Morris, K.S. Thorne, Wormholes in space-time and their use for interstellar travel: a tool for teaching general relativity. Am. J. Phys. 56, 395–412 (1988). https://doi.org/10.1119/1.15620
- H.G. Ellis, Ether flow through a drainhole—a particle model in general relativity. J. Math. Phys. 14, 104–118 (1973). https://doi. org/10.1063/1.1666161
- K.A. Bronnikov, Scalar-tensor theory and scalar charge. Acta Phys. Polon. B 4, 251–266 (1973)
- J.L. Blázquez-Salcedo, C. Knoll, E. Radu, Traversable wormholes in Einstein–Dirac–Maxwell theory. Phys. Rev. Lett. **126**(10), 101102 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.126.101102 arXiv:2010.07317 [gr-qc]
- F.S.N. Lobo, Phantom energy traversable wormholes. Phys. Rev. D 71, 084011 (2005). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.71.084011 arXiv:gr-qc/0502099
- A. Almheiri, T. Hartman, J. Maldacena, E. Shaghoulian, A. Tajdini, Replica wormholes and the entropy of Hawking radiation. JHEP 05, 013 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1007/JHEP05(2020)013 arXiv:1911.12333 [hep-th]
- J. Maldacena, D. Stanford, Z. Yang, Diving into traversable wormholes. Fortsch. Phys. 65(5), 1700034 (2017). https://doi.org/10. 1002/prop.201700034. arXiv:1704.05333 [hep-th]
- K.K. Nandi, Y.Z. Zhang, A.V. Zakharov, Gravitational lensing by wormholes. Phys. Rev. D 74, 024020 (2006). https://doi.org/10. 1103/PhysRevD.74.024020 arXiv:gr-qc/0602062 [gr-qc]
- P. Kanti, B. Kleihaus, J. Kunz, Wormholes in dilatonic Einstein– Gauss–Bonnet theory. Phys. Rev. Lett. 107, 271101 (2011). https:// doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.107.271101 arXiv:1108.3003 [grqc]
- E. Berti, V. Cardoso, A.O. Starinets, Quasinormal modes of black holes and black branes. Class. Quantum Gravity 26, 163001 (2009). https://doi.org/10.1088/0264-9381/26/16/163001 arXiv:0905.2975 [gr-qc]
- V. Cardoso, J.P.S. Lemos, S. Yoshida, Quasinormal modes of Schwarzschild black holes in four-dimensions and higher dimensions. Phys. Rev. D 69, 044004 (2004). https://doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRevD.69.044004 arXiv:gr-qc/0309112 [gr-qc]
- R.A. Konoplya, A. Zhidenko, Wormholes versus black holes: quasinormal ringing at early and late times. JCAP 12, 043 (2016). https://doi.org/10.1088/1475-7516/2016/12/043 arXiv:1606.00517 [gr-qc]
- V. Cardoso, J.L. Costa, K. Destounis, P. Hintz, A. Jansen, Quasinormal modes and strong cosmic censorship. Phys. Rev. Lett. **120**(3), 031103 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevLett.120.031103 arXiv:1711.10502 [gr-qc]
- R.A. Konoplya, How to tell the shape of a wormhole by its quasinormal modes. Phys. Lett. B 784, 43–49 (2018). https://doi.org/10. 1016/j.physletb.2018.07.025 arXiv:1805.04718 [gr-qc]
- P. Dutta Roy, S. Aneesh, S. Kar, Revisiting a family of wormholes: geometry, matter, scalar quasinormal modes and echoes. Eur. Phys. J. C 80(9), 850 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1140/epjc/ s10052-020-8409-5. arXiv:1910.08746 [gr-qc]
- 34. S. Aneesh, S. Bose, S. Kar, Gravitational waves from quasinormal modes of a class of Lorentzian wormholes. Phys. Rev. D 97(12), 124004 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.97. 124004 arXiv:1803.10204 [gr-qc]
- J.L. Blázquez-Salcedo, X.Y. Chew, J. Kunz, Scalar and axial quasinormal modes of massive static phantom wormholes. Phys. Rev. D 98(4), 044035 (2018). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.98. 044035 arXiv:1806.03282 [gr-qc]
- 36. G. D'Amico, N. Kaloper, Black hole echoes. Phys. Rev. D 102(4), 044001 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.102. 044001 arXiv:1912.05584 [gr-qc]

- 37. H. Liu, W.L. Qian, Y. Liu, J.P. Wu, B. Wang, R.H. Yue, Alternative mechanism for black hole echoes. Phys. Rev. D 104(4), 044012 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.104. 044012 arXiv:2104.11912 [gr-qc]
- K.A. Bronnikov, R.A. Konoplya, Echoes in brane worlds: ringing at a black hole-wormhole transition. Phys. Rev. D 101(6), 064004 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.101. 064004 arXiv:1912.05315 [gr-qc]
- R.A. Konoplya, A. Zhidenko, Can the abyss swallow gravitational waves or why we do not observe echoes?. arXiv:2203.16635 [grqc]
- A. Simpson, M. Visser, Black-bounce to traversable wormhole. JCAP 02, 042 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1088/1475-7516/2019/ 02/042. arXiv:1812.07114 [gr-qc]
- K.A. Bronnikov, V.N. Melnikov, H. Dehnen, Regular black holes and black universes. Gen. Relativ. Gravit. **39**, 973–987 (2007). https://doi.org/10.1007/s10714-007-0430-6 arXiv:gr-qc/0611022
- 42. H. Huang, J. Yang, Charged Ellis wormhole and black bounce. Phys. Rev. D 100(12), 124063 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1103/ PhysRevD.100.124063 arXiv:1909.04603 [gr-qc]
- C. Vafa, Brane/anti-brane systems and U(NIM) supergroup. arXiv:hep-th/0101218
- 44. T. Okuda, T. Takayanagi, Ghost D-branes. JHEP 03, 062 (2006). https://doi.org/10.1088/1126-6708/2006/03/062. arXiv:hep-th/0601024
- 45. R.R. Caldwell, A Phantom menace? Phys. Lett. B 545, 23–29 (2002). https://doi.org/10.1016/S0370-2693(02)02589-3 arXiv:astro-ph/9908168
- 46. A. Nakonieczna, M. Rogatko, Ł Nakonieczny, Dark sector impact on gravitational collapse of an electrically charged scalar field. JHEP 11, 012 (2015). https://doi.org/10.1007/JHEP11(2015)012 arXiv:1508.02657 [hep-th]
- 47. J. Lu, A Higgs doublet + Higgs singlet scheme with negative kinetic term for neutrino mass generation. arXiv:2005.13016 [hep-ph]
- F. Piazza, S. Tsujikawa, Dilatonic ghost condensate as dark energy. JCAP 07, 004 (2004). https://doi.org/10.1088/1475-7516/2004/ 07/004 arXiv:hep-th/0405054
- F.S.N. Lobo, M.E. Rodrigues, M.V.S. Silva, A. Simpson, M. Visser, Novel black-bounce spacetimes: wormholes, regularity, energy conditions, and causal structure. Phys. Rev. D 103(8), 084052 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.103.084052. arXiv:2009.12057 [gr-qc]

- S.U. Islam, J. Kumar, S.G. Ghosh, Strong gravitational lensing by rotating Simpson–Visser black holes. arXiv:2104.00696 [gr-qc]
- X.T. Cheng, Y. Xie, Probing a black-bounce, traversable wormhole with weak deflection gravitational lensing. Phys. Rev. D 103(6), 064040 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.103.064040
- N. Tsukamoto, Gravitational lensing in the Simpson–Visser blackbounce spacetime in a strong deflection limit. Phys. Rev. D 103(2), 024033 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.103. 024033 arXiv:2011.03932 [gr-qc]
- M.S. Churilova, Z. Stuchlik, Ringing of the regular blackhole/wormhole transition. Class. Quantum Gravity 37(7), 075014 (2020). https://doi.org/10.1088/1361-6382/ab7717 arXiv:1911.11823 [gr-qc]
- 54. Y. Yang, D. Liu, Z. Xu, Y. Xing, S. Wu, Z.W. Long, Echoes of novel black-bounce spacetimes. Phys. Rev. D 104(10), 104021 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.104.104021 arXiv:2107.06554 [gr-qc]
- R.A. Konoplya, A. Zhidenko, Traversable wormholes in general relativity. Phys. Rev. Lett. 128(9), 091104 (2022). https://doi.org/ 10.1103/PhysRevLett.128.091104 arXiv:2106.05034 [gr-qc]
- M.S. Churilova, R.A. Konoplya, Z. Stuchlik, A. Zhidenko, Wormholes without exotic matter: quasinormal modes, echoes and shadows. JCAP 10, 010 (2021). https://doi.org/10.1088/1475-7516/2021/10/010 arXiv:2107.05977 [gr-qc]
- 57. Z. Zhu, S.J. Zhang, C.E. Pellicer, B. Wang, E. Abdalla, Stability of Reissner–NordstrÖm black hole in de Sitter background under charged scalar perturbation. Phys. Rev. D 90(4), 044042 (2014). https://doi.org/10.1103/PhysRevD.90. 044042 arXiv:1405.4931 [hep-th]
- Y.S. Myung, D.C. Zou, Quasinormal modes of scalarized black holes in the Einstein–Maxwell-scalar theory. Phys. Lett. B **790**, 400–407 (2019). https://doi.org/10.1016/j.physletb.2019.01.046 arXiv:1812.03604 [gr-qc]
- Walter F. Buell, B. A. Shadwick, Potentials and bound states. Am. J. Phys. 63, 256 (1995). https://doi.org/10.1119/1.17935